
 ADOPTED 

Page 1 of 5 

 

City of Keene 

New Hampshire 

 

 

HERITAGE COMMISSION 

MEETING MINUTES 

 

Wednesday, October 8, 2025 4:30 PM 2nd Floor Conference Room, 

City Hall 

Members Present: 

Molly Ellis, Chair 
Rose Carey, Vice Chair  

Louise Zerba 
Acacia Johnston 

Jill Bouchillon, Alternate 

 
Members Not Present: 

Cauley Powell, Alternate 
Kathy Halverson, Alternate 

Julie Emineth 

 
Jay V. Kahn, Mayor 

 

Staff Present: 

Megan Fortson, Planner  
 

 

 

1) Call to Order – Roll Call 

 
Chair Ellis called the meeting to order at 4:30 PM.  Roll call was conducted.  Chair Ellis 

welcomed new alternate member, Jill Bouchillon, and invited her to participate as a voting 
member tonight.   

 

2) Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes – September 10, 2025 
 

Ms. Zerba made a motion to approve the meeting minutes of September 10, 2025.  Ms. 
Bouchillon seconded the motion, which passed by unanimous vote.  

 

3) Man on the Street Interviews – Olina Nightingale, MC2 Charter School 

 

Ms. Carey introduced Olina Nightingale, and stated that she is a student at MC2 Public Charter 
School, not Keene High School.  She spoke about Olina’s interest in participating in the Heritage 

Commission’s video project, possibly doing the “man on the street” interviews, and using the 

Fact TV equipment. Chair Ellis and the committee welcomed Olina and had her briefly explain 
the schoolwork/internship she is doing.   

 
 

 
 



HC Meeting Minutes  ADOPTED 
October 8, 2025 

Page 2 of 5 

 

4) Downtown Video Project Story Map Discussion  

 

Chair Ellis asked Ms. Carey to talk about what she has been doing.  Ms. Carey showed a concept 
of what the story map might look like, which was hung on the wall for the Commission to look at 

and discuss. She continued that it is based on a 1967 map of Keene, and she drew the common as 

she thinks it is today. Blue dots represent churches, and she did a narrative about the churches.  
Ms. Powell will do the banks, which are the red dots on the map.  Those were two of the 

narratives they were thinking of.  The idea is to film, show a historical photo of the building or 
the Block, and voice over the narrative. 

 

The group thanked Ms. Carey for her work.  Chair Ellis stated that she did not complete her 
narrative, but she has been working on it.  Discussion ensued about the possibilities with the 

story map, and Chair Ellis stated that maybe Olina could help them load the “man on the street” 
interviews onto the story map – it is an idea.  Ms. Carey stated that the Commission has sort of 

dropped the ball with writing the narratives for the Block; they need to work on that.  She thinks 

there are five Block.  It is confusing, because the Block changed, in terms of their names and 
numbers, and it is hard to keep up with which is which. 

 
Discussion continued about the Block.  Chair Ellis stated that she is doing the Russell Block.  

She stated that an example of something she learned about a building in that Block, which she 

wants to learn more about, is that an upper floor had a dance hall with a spring floor, and was the 
first in the area.  Ms. Carey replied that that is a great idea of the kind of information that is 

interesting and fun, more than just names and dates. 
 

Ms. Carey stated that she continues to work from the book she mentioned at the last meeting.  

Chair Ellis replied that the “Blocks” section of the book is also available as a PDF on the City of 
Keene’s website.  Ms. Fortson asked her to send her the link, so she can share it with the group.  

Ms. Carey stated that the Latchis Block would be a good one for someone to research.  She asked 
if anyone wants to do the Cheshire House or the Latchis Blocks.  Ms. Bouchillon stated that she 

will do the Cheshire House Block.  Ms. Johnston stated that she will do the Latchis Block.  

Discussion ensued about which block Ms. Zerba is doing.  Ms. Carey asked if she wants to do 
the block between West St. and Lamson St.   

 
Discussion continued about how they are looking to create fun, interesting narratives about the 

blocks, not give full histories.  It should be approximately a one-minute voiceover to go with 

video footage.  Something anecdotal, or possibly something about a particularly outstanding 
architectural feature, but they do not want to get wrapped up in architecture.  Discussion 

continued.  Ms. Carey stated that it should not be too hard to get these narratives pulled together 
for the next meeting.  She continued that Ms. Powell wants to film, and these are the supporting 

things for that.  She spoke about more of the photos on the example story map/1967 map, 

including the railroad, the high school, the junior high, and the courthouse.  Chair Ellis stated 
that maybe they could interview a high schooler.  Discussion ensued about the idea. 

 
Ms. Carey stated that they have all their assignments at this point.  Chair Ellis stated that she is 

doing Russell Block.  She asked if she should do Keene Savings, too.  Ms. Carey replied yes.  
She continued that Ms. Zerba is doing West St. to Lamson St.  Ms. Bouchillon stated that she is 



HC Meeting Minutes  ADOPTED 
October 8, 2025 

Page 3 of 5 

 

doing the Cheshire House Block.  Ms. Carey asked if someone was assigned Cheshire National 
Bank – maybe Ms. Powell.  She herself is doing Church St. to Railroad St.  They have still 

Roxbury St. up to City Hall that will need to be assigned to someone. 
 

Ms. Carey stated that Ms. Powell is not here, but at last month’s meeting, they talked about  

making sure Ms. Powell and her colleague were paid for their time spent filming.  She asked if 
Ms. Powell gave an indication of a dollar amount.  Chair Ellis replied no.  Discussion ensued 

about what to do, and the group decided to wait until Ms. Powell can give them an estimate to 
vote on the dollar amount, but for now, they can say they are in favor of compensating Ms. 

Powell and Mr. Clements.  Ms. Fortson stated that she will add it as an agenda item for next 

time.  She continued that they need to make sure there are enough members present to vote on it 
next time, because Ms. Powell will need to recuse herself from the vote due to having a 

pecuniary interest in the item.  Maybe Ms. Powell can give an estimate she can include in the 
agenda packet, and she will also include an updated statement of what the Commission has 

available in their budget. 

 

5) US Sesqui-Centennial 2026 Planning & Preparation – Updates 

 

Chair Ellis stated that regarding next year’s 4th of July celebration, the Sesqui-Centennial, the 

Cheshire County Historical Society will be the fiduciary sponsor, handling the liability 

insurance.  She continued that Pathways for Keene was going to handle getting the license for 
the event.  However, the Pathways board decided to not move forward, because partly they feel 

they are not connected with the historical mandate, and partially they feel they have a conflict, 
something to do with their 4 on the 4th race also being a fundraising event.  The Pathways board 

asked if the Heritage Commission could get the license.  There is now a volunteer committee in 

place for planning the event, so the planning is not the Commission’s responsibility.  The Mayor 
wants to know if the Commission can apply for the license to hold the event.  It does not require 

having an LLC or 501(c)(3).  It is about filling out the form.  There is no liability to the 
Commission, because the Cheshire County Historical Society will hold the liability insurance.   

 

Discussion ensued about applying for the license and what it is.  Ms. Fortson explained that it 
would be a license from the City Clerk’s Office, for something like an “outdoor periodic event.”  

Chair Ellis added that the Mayor is doing the fundraising, and the City is providing in-kind 
donations, so no one is asking the Commission for money, and the volunteer committee is 

organizing the event.  There is no real work for the Commission other than filling out the license 

application.  The volunteer committee understands that the Commission is a small group, already 
working on a project for the year, and cannot do heavy lifting for the Sesqui-Centennial. 

 
Ms. Carey made a motion for the Heritage Commission to apply for the license for the Sesqui-

Centennial 2026 event. 

 
Ms. Carey stated that that she thinks it would be a good way to support the City and their work. 

 
Chair Ellis stated that she should add that the scope of the event has shrunk considerably.  She 

gave more information about it.   
 



HC Meeting Minutes  ADOPTED 
October 8, 2025 

Page 4 of 5 

 

Ms. Zerba seconded the motion the motion. 
 

Ms. Zerba stated that she, too, will support the Commission applying for the license, as long as 
everyone understands the Commission will not be doing more work that would get them in over 

their heads.  Chair Ellis replied that she will vouch for that.  Ms. Bouchillon spoke of her 

agreement with what Ms. Zerba said about the Commission’s limited role.  Chair Ellis replied 
that she understands and will discuss it with the volunteer committee. 

 
The motion passed by unanimous vote. 

 

Ms. Fortson asked if the City is waiving the fee for submitting the application to the City Clerk’s 
Office.  Chair Ellis replied that she thinks so, but she is not sure.  Other Commission members 

expressed that they think the fee should be waived.  Chair Ellis replied that she will find out and 
get back to them. 

 

6) Annual Report to Planning, Licenses and Development Committee – Status Update 

 

Chair Ellis stated that the Commission’s annual report to the PLD Committee, which she has 
copies of today, essentially talks about the great work the Commission is doing.  She continued 

that it talks about the grant money they brought into the City and details some of the projects 

they have done, like the Italian Neighborhood mapping project, the Recovering Black History 
project, the barn inventory, and more.  It is helpful because many Councilors are not aware of the 

Commission’s activities.  She will present this report next month. 
 

7) Staff Updates 

 

Ms. Fortson stated that two new alternate members have been appointed to the Commission, 

including Ms. Bouchillon.  Kathy Halverson, another Alternate member, will be starting soon. 
 

Ms. Fortson continued that the Italian Neighborhood Project will require a two terabyte hard 

drive.  She does not know the cost, but she can bring that information to the next meeting, and 
the Commission can vote on that as well as the potential filming compensation. 

 
Ms. Fortson continued that she discussed internally with Will Schoefmann, GIS Coordinator and 

former staff liaison for the Commission, and Mari Brunner, the Senior Planner, the potential for 

this downtown video project becoming a story map.  At this point, staff does not have the 
capacity to create something like that.  If the Commission wants that end product, they would 

need to hire a consultant, or purchase the necessary software.   
 

Ms. Zerba asked if Mr. Schoefmann was able to do anything this past month on the Italian 

Neighborhood Project.  Ms. Fortson replied no, and in fact, Mr. Schoefmann is so swamped with 
work that it will be a slow process getting the Italian Neighborhood Project caught up. 

 
Discussion ensued about the cost of a 2 TB hard drive. 

 
 



HC Meeting Minutes  ADOPTED 
October 8, 2025 

Page 5 of 5 

 

8) New Business  

 

Ms. Carey stated that she had an idea, maybe related to the 250th Celebration.  She spoke about 
how it could be interesting to write/create a blurb about the history of Keene that would pop up 

on people’s GPS as they enter Keene, and if other towns in NH did this, too, people could drive 

through the state and learn the towns’ histories.  Discussion ensued about other groups and 
organizations that might be interested in this. 

 
Ms. Fortson stated that the Preservation Alliance recently released a video of a training they had, 

which she can send to the Commission members.  She continued that it might be especially 

helpful for the new members, as it gives background information on what the Preservation 
Alliance does and what it means to be a Heritage Commission member. 

 

9) Next Meeting – November 12, 2025 

10) Adjournment 

 
There being no further business, Chair Ellis adjourned the meeting at 5:12 PM. 

 
Respectfully submitted by, 

Britta Reida, Minute Taker 

 
Reviewed and edited by, 

Megan Fortson, Planner 


